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INTRODUCTION

As with many inquiries this one began with a simple

question from fellow collector Phil Leveque, whom with new

purchase in hand inquired, “Why do some Model 1836 pistols

have only a single inspection cartouche when normally there

should be two present?” After a few years of observation and

research there is a clearer answer to this question. However,

the search opened an avenue of information that allows the

placement of some of those “single cartouche pistols” in an

interesting period of history and allows their direct associa-

tion with the Seminole War. And perhaps a few pistols can

even be specifically attributed to part of the conflict that took

place in the State of Georgia in the Okefenokee Swamp.

BACKGROUND

During the first half of the 19th century the United

States arms industry was moving toward a system of manu-

facturing that would eventually lead to interchangeable parts

and significantly contribute to what would become known

worldwide as the American System of Manufacturing. The

improvement of the inspection process was a major step for-

ward, in addition to the development of specialized machin-

ery. These improvements began in the early 1830s with the

reorganization of the Ordnance Department under the Act of

April 5, 1832, the appointment of an Ordnance Officer as

Superintendent of Inspection, and the publishing of the

Ordnance Regulations of 1834.

The new organization and procedures were hardly in

place before the eruption of the conflict known in history as

the Second Seminole War (1835-1842). By the terms of the

Treaty of Payne’s Landing in May of 1832 the Seminole

Indians were to migrate west of the Mississippi by the end of

three years. The Army arrived in early 1835 to enforce the

treaty. Outbreak into a full scale conflict occurred on

December 28, 1835 when a military expedition under Major

Francis Dade was ambushed and defeated by the Seminoles

near current day Ocala, Florida. The Seminoles, led by

Osceola,1 employed guerilla tactics against the combined

U.S. regular military forces and state militia. The Seminoles

fought desperately for more than seven years. This would be

the most expensive “Indian War” in U.S. history by the time

it ended in 1842 (Figure 1).

The State of Georgia was geographically and politically

in the middle of three Indian problems. Following the Indian

Removal Act of 1830 and the discovery of gold on Cherokee

land in north Georgia, the State militia began moving the

Cherokee to Oklahoma. Also displacing the Seminole, the

same Act began causing problems in swamps of northern

Florida and southern Georgia. The Seminoles, whose name

means “runaway,” were actually members of the Creek tribe

that had migrated into Florida from Georgia. There they
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were joined in the swamps by runaway slaves. The removal

treaties and acts also spread the conflict into Creek nations

of Georgia and Alabama (Figure 2A).

The pressing and sudden need for military supplies by

United States troops deployed to Florida and federally acti-

vated state militias in adjoining states put a strain on the ord-

nance supply system. This sudden need for arms for mounted

units, especially pistols, began in earnest at a time when the

new Model 1836 pistols were in the final stages of develop-

ment. Pistols were in short supply following a decade-long

production hiatus. This sudden demand compelled the rapid

advance of the Model 1836 pistol into production.

The Second Seminole War was not the only conflict

occurring during the same period that demanded an increase

in arms. Due to the uncertainty of these regional conflicts,

other states not directly engaged were also demanding arms as

a precaution. The sudden demand for arms put the Ordnance

Department at a disadvantage in complying with the new

Ordnance Regulations of 1834. Inevitable problems began to

plague the system when Major Henry Knox Craig,

Superintendent of Inspection could not be everywhere at the

same time personally inspecting contract arms and accou-

trements, all of which were in high demand. Anomalies began

to creep into the inspection process. Circumstances caused

by these “exigencies of service”2 provide today’s collectors

and students of arms with a unique opportunity to identify a

few of the pistols used in the conflicts with the Indians known

as the Seminole Wars. Certain anomalies occurring in the

inspection process, coupled with documentation discovered

in the National Archives, allow a few groups of pistols to be

attributed even more directly to the conflicts.

THE NEW MODEL PISTOL

The design and construction of the new model pistol

developed outside the normal approval process for arms.

The usual process was

to have the pattern

models fabricated at

one of the national

armories. However, in

this instance the pattern

pistols were actually

fabricated by Robert

Johnson in Middletown,

Connecticut with the

assistance of Major Craig,

the Superintendent of

Inspection and Colonel

George Bomford, Chief of Ordnance.3 The final approved pat-

tern, which became the Model 1836 Pistol, was rapidly put

into production just as the Second Seminole War was escalat-

ing. The new Model 1836 pistols were the first to be produced

since the last deliveries of the Model 1819, made by Simeon

North, were completed in 1823. The military may have felt

that the large contracts of 20,000 each for the Model 1816 and

1819 pistols were sufficient to last a number of years.

However, another reason for the lack of pistols may be

explained in a letter from Bomford to Nathan Starr on January

24, 1828:

. . . The supply of small arms, under the appropriation

for arming the militia must be diminished; for there is an

increasing desire on the part of the state authorities to receive

field artillery in lieu of small arms; to meet which a portion of

the funds must be diverted from small arms to artillery . . . 4

Accordingly, requests for small arms for mounted

troops declined in favor of the preferred substitution of

artillery pieces. Deficiencies in the stocks of pistols were

pointed out by Major Rufus Baker in a letter to Colonel

Bomford, dated January 29, 1834, reporting on the supply of

pistols at the Allegheny Arsenal:

I have received your order for the issue of 750 pistols

and sabers to the Dragoons at Fort Gibson and Jefferson

Barracks. The Department is doubtless aware that this issue

will have to be made from pistols of the old pattern there being

only sixty of the swivel ramrod pattern on hand at this arsenal.5

The old pattern referred to in the letter was likely the

Model 1816, which was supplied with a wooden ramrod while

the Model 1819 was equipped with the iron swivel ramrod.

The development of the Model 1836 pistol began with

a response to a circular from the Ordnance Department

soliciting bids for fabrication of pistols, Robert Johnson

wrote to Bomford on January 17, 1835:

. . . I will agree to manufacture the 2,500 pistols

named in the circular at eight dollars each pistol if the time
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can be extended into the year 1836 as the time named is too

short to get stocks this year to fit the work. 6

However, it was early June 1836 before the

Ordnance Department and Robert Johnson

settled on the Pattern pistol.7 As Robert

Johnson prepared to deliver the first

group of the new pistols, conflicting

demands increased from both U.S.

troops and the states. When their

needs were not being met fast

enough some states chose to di-

rectly approach the arms contractors

(Figure 3).

THE VIRGINIA PRECEDENT

In Virginia the Nat Turner

rebellion in Southampton County in 1832 emptied the

State’s arsenals of small arms due to the fear of a larger scale

rebellion. Virginia rejecting the proffered arms from the fed-

eral government under the Militia Act of 1808 made it own

arms at the Virginia Manufactory until 1823. With Virginia

arsenals empty, the state began requesting the arrears in

small arms due under the Militia Act, including pistols, from

Ordnance Department. In addition, Virginia inquired about

direct purchase from northern contract suppliers.

The direct purchase was authorized by the Virginia

General Assembly when it passed a law in the 1831–1832

session authorizing the Governor to contract for military

equipment. Based on that legislation, Bernard Peyton, the

Virginia Adjutant General, began pressing for arms. In the

following letter to Colonel George Bomford, on June 6,

1832, Peyton requested assistance to purchase or independ-

ently contract for accoutrements and arms:

At the last session of our legislature, a law passed

requiring the Governor to contract for military equipments of

every description, for the use of the militia of this state, and

understand that your Department has an ample supply on

hand . . . I am directed by him to inquire of you whether your

Department would be willing to furnish such articles as might

be required, at the prices they respectively cost, not what

they are valued at when given in lieu to arms to the several

states. The cash being paid for them on delivery. If that can-

not be done, would you oblige so far as to acquaint me with

the contract prices for these articles to govern me in making

a contract for them . . .8

On July 9, 1832, Colonel Bomford informed Major

Craig, Inspector of Contract Arms, that the Secretary of War

Lewis Cass had approved Virginia’s request for assistance in

contracting.9 Five years would pass before the pistols

requested by Virginia under the Militia Act were actually

delivered. Finally, Adjutant General Peyton received a letter

from Colonel Bomford dated June 9, 1836 concerning the

protracted delays:

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your

letter of the 6th inst. and in answer, I regret to have to state

that owing to the very heavy pressing demands in conse-

quence to the Indian hostilities, for every species of arms and

accoutrements, the manufacture of those due the state under

The Act of 1808, had under the circumstances of the call, to

be adjusted.10

Rejected, Virginia tried to appeal directly to Robert

Johnson for pistols but he was not inclined to risk his agree-

ment with the Ordnance Department. The hostilities in

Florida and Georgia had temporally spoiled Virginia’s request

for arms. This exchange of letters suggests the setting of an

unusual precedent involving the Ordnance Department

directly assisting a state in contracting with private vendors

for arms and accoutrements. This “precedent” would later

be called into question by Secretary of War Joel Poinsett who

replaced Lewis Cass in 1837.

These letters seem to imply that Virginia wanted to inde-

pendently contract for arms and accoutrements, purchase
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them from the Ordnance Department and/or receive their

allotment in arms and accoutrements. Virginia finally settled

on their allotment arrears under the Militia Act with the

Ordnance Department by agreement dated October 31,

1834. The pistols Virginia finally received under this agree-

ment will play a role later in this inquiry.

GEORGIA MILITIA FEDERALIZED

On January 24, 1836, the Secretary of War Lewis Cass

authorized the Governor of Georgia William Schley to call

out the State Militia to subdue the Seminoles and Creeks. A

few days later on February 2, 1836, the Secretary acknowl-

edged receipt of the Governor Schely’s request for funds and

authorized $15,000 for the State to pay for supplies.

Closer to seat of conflict the State of Georgia made

requests similar to those of Virginia to the Secretary of War

asking for assistance in purchasing arms. Although the origi-

nal letter from the Governor of Georgia on January 19, 1836

outlining the necessary arms and equipment needed for the

Volunteer Georgia Cavalry could not be located, the content

can be determined from the letter Bomford sent to Major

Craig March 9, 1836 outlining the Governors request:

An application having been made by his Excellency

William Schley, Governor of the State of Georgia wishing

through the agency of the Government to purchase for the State

of Georgia ten thousand dollars worth of cavalry equipment.

You will in accordance

thereby at as early day

as practicable contract

in the names and for

the State of Georgia for

the following stores to be paid for through the agents of that

state on your application therefore to the Governor viz.

340 cavalry sabers to be obtained of Mr. Ames

680 Pistols to be obtained of Mr. R. Johnson.

340 sets of cavalry equipment’s complete each to con-

sist of the following:

One saber belt (white leather) one brass belt plate for

the same, One pistol cartridge box, One Pair of holsters. (The

number of pistols implies and issue of two pistols for each

cavalryman.)

to be obtained from Mr. Dingee amounting in all agree-

able to present prices paid for similar stores by the govern-

ment $9,720.60 falling somewhat short of $10,000 the origi-

nal sum appropriated by the State of Georgia, which differ-

ence is reserved to pay for packing transportation and to con-

sider other incidental expenditures.

The arms and accouterments are to be subject to the

usual inspection to be exactly conformable to the present

established patterns, to be in no respect inferior in quality

and workmanship to similar articles furnished the general

government and the prices to be paid for them not to exceed

those paid by the Government,

Instead of sending the contracts to this office you will

transmit them to the Governor of Georgia communicating

with him all in due time as to the points at which the stores

are to be delivered at (Figure 4).11

General Winfield Scott was ordered to Florida in

February 1836 to take overall command of the Indian con-

flicts. Scott was ordered to pass through South Carolina and

Georgia and muster the state militia. Governor Schley’s

request for arms occurred just three months after the outbreak

of the Seminole War and coincided with General Scott’s arrival

in Georgia, to activate the state militia. Some

Georgia units such as the Richmond Blues
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and Richmond Hussars from

Augusta Georgia answered

the call.12 There are numer-

ous references in diaries and

reports of Georgia mounted

troops serving in Florida and

Georgia.13

Both the Georgia and

Virginia Governor were

destined to be frustrated in

their respective contracting

efforts for arms through the

Ordnance Department. The

states, however, were more

successful in obtaining accou-

trements from Robert Dingee.

The following letters make it

clear that the immediate priority in supplying arms and

accoutrements was to be the U. S. forces, not the state mili-

tia (Figure 5).

THE MODEL 1836 INTO PRODUCTION

On September 2, 1836, Bomford sent Craig order

number 212, which initially

required 900 pistols to be

issued to the 2nd Regiment

of Dragoons.14 Additional instructions followed on

November 24, 1836:

The 2nd Regt. of Dragoons are organizing in the City

of New York respective to Order No 212, instead of forward-

ing all 900 pistols to Washington Arsenal send one half only;

the other half to the depot in New York. The delivery of the

first 400 will be made to New York Depot.

More urgency was requested from Bomford in a letter

to Craig dated November 29, 1836: “Speed completion of

the pistols, deliver as many as you can obtain due to the

immediate need for the number to equip the 2nd Regiment

of Dragoons.”15

Robert Johnson delivered the first 350 Model 1836 pis-

tols on November 19, 1836.16 They were inspected by Thomas

Warner serving as the principle sub-inspector from Springfield

Armory and Major Craig. Craig had already shipped the pistols

to the Washington Arsenal before receiving the revised instruc-

tions from Bomford.17 In a letter to Bomford dated December

22, 1836, Craig stated that Johnson indicated he would be able

to have 600 more pistols ready by January 1837. At the end of

the letter Craig states that he has informed Johnson that he

expects 500 pistols ready for inspection by January 16, 1837.18

However, the next delivery of 500 pistols would not occur

until March 11, 1837. It can reasonably be inferred that the first

two deliveries of Model 1836 pistols were needed to complete

the issue to the U.S. 2nd Dragoons (Figure 6).
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On February 13, 1837, Bomford is pressing Craig for pis-

tols and requesting him to inform the contractors to deliver as

soon as possible. Bomford closes the letter: “Urgent demand

requires something should be done immediately.”Bomford esti-

mated they needed at least 10,000 pistols.19 Craig had only 850

pistols in the pipeline and they were reserved for the Dragoons.

The Ordnance Department had only 7,000 pistols under con-

tract in 1837—4,000 from Johnson and 3,000 from Asa Waters.

RULES OF THE GAME

In early 1837, the pressing need for pistols began to

erode the prescribed inspection procedures and resulting

anomalies began to creep into the process. Not only was Major

Craig the Superintendent of Inspection for the Ordnance

Department, he was also the Ordnance Officer in charge of

Watertown Arsenal. Major Craig was guided in his inspection

duties by his superior officer Colonel George Bomford, Chief

of Ordnance and the Regulations for the Government of the

Ordnance Department 1834.Although these regulations were

new, they were in addition to the very detailed Regulations for

the Inspection of Small Arms 1823 and the more general

Regulations for the Ordnance Service September 1830.

The Regulations for Inspection 1823 set the rules for

inspecting and marking the pistols. It provided for the letters

U.S., the inspector’s initials, and the letter P to be placed on

the top of the barrel one inch from the breech following the

proof firing of the barrels. The regulations also stated that

after the examinations of the inspector are completed, the

initials of his name would be stamped in the stock, opposite

the lock. Until the appointment of Lieutenant Daniel Tyler in

1831, all the inspections after 1817 were completed by

employees from Springfield Armory under the supervision of

Roswell Lee. Springfield continued to supply the sub-inspec-

tors but the supervision shifted to the Ordnance Department

with Tyler’s appointment as Superintendent of Inspection.

Supplying the military operation in Florida continued

to pressure the Ordnance Department. Craig delegated some

inspection duties to Captain James Andrew Jackson.

Bradford. The first hint that Craig was not personally super-

vising the inspection of goods was discovered in a series of

letters beginning in early 1835. Rejecting some accou-

trements fabricated by Robert Dingee, Bradford generated a

series of letters between himself, Craig, and Bomford in early

1835.20 Although Bradford’s supporting letters have not been

located it appears that Craig was having difficulties with

maintaining his dual duties at the Watertown Arsenal and as

Superintendent of Inspection. Bradford had been inspecting

as Ordnance Officer for some time. His distinctive J.A.J.B

appears on Whitney, Pomeroy and Robert Johnson Muskets

delivered in 1834 as receiving officer in place of Craig.21 His

stamp of acceptance also appears on Hall Carbines by

Simeon North dated 1836.22 Bradford was filling in for Craig

on more than just accoutrements.

On March 20, 1837, Lieutenant Robert Henry

Kirkwood Whiteley23 was sent from Augusta Arsenal to assist

Craig at Watertown Arsenal.24 Craig continued to rely on

other officers to assist in the inspection, which continued to

cause problems with major accoutrement supplier Robert

Dingee. Bomford wrote to Craig on April 5, 1837:

Much difficulty and embarrassment having lately been

experienced in the inspection of accoutrements owing to your

inability of attending to it and in the consequent necessity of

assigning that duty to officers not sufficiently experienced to

perform it to obviate therefore in future every difficulty of this

kind you will resume the inspection of all accoutrements. This

it is presumed can now be done without detriment to the

operation at your post since you will have the assistance of

Lieutenant Whiteley lately detailed at your arsenal . . .25

This letter was prompted because 640 sets of cavalry

equipments and 260 extra holsters were rejected for poor

quality at Robert Dingee’s establishment. The inspection was

suspended by Captain Bradford because all the items sub-

mitted to him were of poor quality. The implication of this

letter points out that Craig continued to allow Bradford to

inspect and receive contract items in his absence.26

Craig wrote to Bomford on May 4, 1837 concerning

the acceptance of arms into the agent’s stores that had not

completed inspection. This was due to Craig’s inability to be

at a number of musket factories to inspect arms in a timely

manner. Craig had tentatively agreed to allow the arms to be

placed in the agent’s stores, but informed Bomford, “taking

care to inform them that I had no authority to promise that

the arms would be received.” Bomford’s reply on May 9,

1837 held Craig to the official regulations:

Your letter of the 4th inst (May 4) has been received.

You are correct in your views as to the question of existing

authority whether arms can be received if they have not been

inspected in the presence of the Inspector of the Contract

Service. The 107th paragraph of the ordnance regulations

[1834] making it clearly incumbent on him to be present. He

could not consistently approve the acts of the sub-inspectors

without his having witnessed them.

As you now have the assistance of an officer it is pre-

sumed that you will be able to attend to the periodical inspec-

tions without causing any material delay to the contractors.27

The paragraph that Bomford refers to is found in the

Regulations for the Government of the Ordnance

Department 1834. Specifically, paragraph 107 states:

The inspecting officers of contract arms shall, in all

cases, before receiving such arms for the United States cause
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them to be taken to pieces in their presence, and the several

parts to be closely examined by the sub-inspectors. When arms

have been received by the inspecting officer for the use of the

United States at private armories, the principal inspector will

cause them immediately to be boxed for transportation in his

presence, and will secure each box by fixing his seals thereon.28

From 1834 on, two sets of inspection initials should be

present on firearms and certainly on all accepted Model

1836 pistols; one set for the sub-inspector and one for the

Ordnance Officer receiving the arms (Figure 7).

INSPECTIONS

Craig’s absence at some pistol inspections is evident due

to the lack of his final HKC inspection cartouche appearing on

the stock of some Model 1836 pistols. Although he signed all

the official inspection certificates, the lack of his HKC stamp

suggests that he may not have been physically present at a few

of the inspections. It appears from the physical evidence,

which is connected with supply pressure points, that he was

not present on at least two occasions in 1837.

The inspection process of the era began when enough

components of at least 500 pistols were ready to assemble. A

skilled and experienced employee from Springfield Armory,

appointed as “sub-inspector,”would be dispatched to the pri-

vate manufactory of Robert Johnson or Asa Waters. They

would often remain for several days until a group of a few

hundred pistols had been assembled and inspected. As the

pistol components were completed the principle sub-inspec-

tor placed the letter of his last name on the bottom of the

brass pan, on the flat of the barrel opposite the touch hole

and on the tail of stock flat. Thus the three major compo-

nents of the pistol—the lock, stock, and barrel—were

approved. When the entire pistol was completely and prop-

erly assembled he placed his scripted initials enclosed in a

cartouche on the stock flat near the rear side screw. The

Superintendent of Inspection, an Ordnance Officer, was sum-

moned to the manufactory when the proffered pistols were

ready to be delivered to the United States. The Ordnance

Officer personally inspected the work of the sub-inspectors

and often took select pistols apart. On completing his

inspection he stamped his cartouche initials on the stock

next to those of the sub-inspector. Under his direct supervi-

sion the pistols were boxed, sealed and shipped from the

manufactory as prescribed. The dated final inspection cer-

tificate, signed by both men, was then sent to the Treasury

Department for payment. Today these certificates are scat-

tered in the hundreds of boxes of the records of the Second

Auditor located in the National Archives (Figure 8).

On a properly inspected Model 1836 pistol the stock

should clearly show both inspector cartouches and if origi-

nal flintlock, the initials on the pan, stock, and barrel flat

should be the same. There are exceptions to identical letters

on the component parts when two sub-inspectors are work-

ing at the same manufactory. However, this is more prevalent

on Waters than Johnson pistols due to continual problems

with inspections at the Waters manufactory.

THE FIRST ANOMALY

Only a few pistols dated 1836 are known to have sur-

vived issue to the 2nd Dragoons and their subsequent use in

Florida. Beginning with the first 350 pistols dated 1836, the

TW cartouche of Principle Inspector Thomas Warner

appears on the stock with the barrels proofed by Nahum W.

Patch (NWP). The second cartouche of the Superintendent

of Inspection Henry Knox Craig (HKC) should also be pres-

ent on the first 350 pistols since this was the first production

delivery of a new model. However, additional pistols dated

1836 have also been observed with only a single cartouche

of Thomas Warner. This might be explained because Johnson

had intended to deliver at least 600 more pistols before

January 1837. In fact the next delivery of pistols did not

occur until March 11, 1837. Two pistols have been observed

in original flintlock condition with only the TW sub-inspec-

tion cartouche and three others have been noted that have

been altered to percussion. The pistols with only the TW

inspection may be those that were delivered in March using
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locks dated 1836. Subsequent inspection records combined

with observations indicate that locks dated in the previous

year were often carried forward into the subsequent year.

Thomas Warner inspected five deliveries totaling 2,650 pis-

tols from March 11 to August 4, 1837. Both the TW and the

HKC cartouche have been observed on 1837-dated pistols so

Craig was physically present for some of the inspections.29

The 500 pistols delivered on March 11 were directed to be

delivered to New York for the 2nd Regiment of Dragoons. An

adjusted total of 720 pistols were needed to complete the

order. The first two deliveries provided 850 pistols, which

were more than enough.30

The partial answer to this question of the “single car-

touche pistols” is that these anomalies occurred at the pres-

sure points where Craig was physically unable to attend the

inspections. The most likely occurrence for the single TW

cartouche of Thomas Warner was the March 11 inspection.

One bit of evidence supporting the March inspection is that

Lt. Whiteley arrived at Watertown after the March 11 inspec-

tion but before the next April 4 inspection. Also, Bomford’s

letter to Craig on April 5, 1837 clearly shows he is certainly

not at Robert Dingees! Most of the surviving pistols

with the 1836 dates and TW cartouches exhibit hard

use (Figure 9).

CRAIG’S MOUNTING PROBLEMS

Major Craig’s inspection duties continued to

mount in the summer of 1837. Following Bomford’s

letter of May 9, 1837, which clarified the role of the

Superintendent of Inspection, Craig personally

attended the next pistol inspections at Johnson’s fac-

tory. This is verified in letters to Bomford that di-

rectly address the inspections. On May 30, 1837 Craig

writes to Bomford: “On the 25th inst. I inspected at

the factory of R. Johnson 450 pistols, which I di-

rected to be immediately forwarded to the N.Y. Depot.”

In addition, on July 18, 1837, Craig communicated

“On the 10th I inspected at R. Johnson and S. North 700 pis-

tols and 860 carbines.” The remainder of the July 18 letter is

quoted because it gives an insight into Craig’s impossible

schedule in a ten day period from June 8–18, 1837:

On July 8 I inspected at the factory of N.P. Ames 1000

art. swords and 20 Dragoon sabers small size and caused them

to be delivered to the Military Storekeeper at Springfield

Armory. On the 10th I inspected at R. Johnson and S. North

700 pistols and 860 carbines. I then visited N. York and

inspected 2500 infantry and 100 cavalry accoutrements,

which along with the pistols and the carbines were delivered

to L.L Van Kleeck Esq. MSK at the N.Y. Depot.

Your letters of 13 and 14th were received since my

return . . . 31

Craig’s situation eroded further following the August 4

pistol inspection when Principle Inspector Thomas Warner

left the inspection service to go to work for Asa Waters at

Millbury. Adding to Craig’s problems, Lt. Whiteley was

ordered back to Florida after only four months service to

the Ordnance Department. On July 28, 1837, Whiteley was
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preparing his receipts so he could depart Watertown.32 It is

likely he was still at Watertown on August 4, allowing Craig

to make the inspection with Warner for 500 pistols at the

Robert Johnson factory.

On August 17, 1837, Craig asked Bomford for help:

I do not know how I can get along with the inspec-

tions without the appointment of two or three additional

inspectors of fire arms besides one for swords. The pistol fac-

tories when fairly in operation will give employment to take a

great amount of time and the time of one is in great measure

engrossed by the carbines. We have now only two inspectors

one of whose services I will be glad to dispense with as soon

as others can be got. The greater difficulty in the way of get-

ting suitable persons arises from the fact that I cannot learn

there are any such amongst the inspectors if the armory who

are willing to serve. I understand that Mr. Weatherhead, the

former master armorer, could be willing to become an armory

and contract inspector; he would be a valuable acquisition to

both establishments if he could be secured against the effects

of the machinations of his old nemesis.

Travel accounts for the last quarter of 1837 show that

in addition to Principal Inspector Thomas Warner, also pres-

ent at Johnson’s were inspectors Asabel Hubbard and Justin

Murphy—both old hands at the inspection business. It is

unknown which one most displeased Craig, but neither one

continued in the inspection service.

THE SECOND ANOMALY

A series of events around the October 5, 1837 pistol

inspection at Johnson’s factory make this the most likely can-

didate for the second anomaly. A grouping of pistols dated

1837 exhibits only the single cartouche inspection mark of

Joseph Hannis (JH). The October inspection for 500 pistols

was the first inspection by Hannis, who replaced Warner as

Principle Inspector. Since it is almost inconceivable that

Craig would ignore the May 9 written instructions of the

Chief of Ordnance, and absence himself from yet another

inspection, perhaps an alternate explanation is in order.

Craig’s good standing and competence may be affirmed

because he was promoted to Alleghany Arsenal and eventu-

ally became Chief of Ordnance himself in 1851 (Figure 10)!

On September 15, 1837, Bomford sent Craig a long letter

relating to equipment needs. The letter stressed that 600

Tennessee volunteers were being sent to Florida all in need of

pistols and even more pistols were needed for New Jersey.

Bomford took the opportunity in this communication to

express his exasperation with arms supply problems. Although

Bomford stated that he did not attach any blame to Craig and

that his intent was that the letter should be used to serve as an

admonishment to the contractors, his further instruction to

Craig is quite clear beginning with the line “you will:”

. . . You will take all measures necessary to hasten the

completion and inspection of 1500 pistols, 600 sent immedi-

ately to N.J. (the word and is underlined in the original letter)

I take this occasion to state that the difficulties which

are constantly encountered by this Department in conse-

quence of the scanty and slow supplies of pistols and carbines

are truly embarrassing and perplexing and will result in the

censure of this Department

To say nothing of the present demand in Florida large

numbers of pistols and carbines still remain to be delivered

under the militia act of 1808 under orders given to you almost

two years since . . .

Bomford closes the letter by ordering that all pistols

and carbines from the contractors be shipped directly from

the contractors to the New York Depot.33

Perhaps the most convincing document to support the

presence of the JH single occurring during the October 5

inspection is a letter from Craig’s dated October 7. In it he

clearly states he is at Cabotsville on October 5. In addition

Craig’s letters during this period indicate pistols are being

sent directly from the Johnson factory to New York in small

batches as they are completed. It seems that Craig bundled

small shipments of pistols into one inspection certificate for

500 pistols dated October 5, 1837. The wording in Craig’s

letter is also interesting, note the use of “I directed” instead

of “I inspected” in relation to the pistols:

On the 4th inst. I directed 100 pistols and 300 carbines

to be immediately shipped from the Middletown depot to L.L.

Van Kleeck at New York and on the 5th I inspected 400 flasks

at Cabotsville, which I directed to be forwarded to same des-

tination. . . . I hope to get off 600 flasks and 200 pistols more

in a short time.

It is in a great deal of mortification that I have so often

to report delay in meeting requisitions; last I wish you to be
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assured that no efforts have been spared by me in carrying

into effect the business of the Department.34

Apparently Bomford’s last letter carried considerably

more weight than previous communications in stating “You

will take all measures necessary to hasten the completion

and inspection.” Only a few days later the continuing pres-

sure on Craig to fill orders is captured in his letter to

Bomford on October 18, 1837:

Mr. Dingee has about 3,000 Infantry accoutrements ready

for inspection but in consequence of the removal of Lt. Whiteley

from this post I will be unable to attend to that inspection. More

flasks are reported in readiness by Mr. Ames. I requested the

sword inspector (William Smith) to make the necessary inspec-

tions and turn them over for transportation to the Alleghany

Arsenal. They have been no doubt sent off before this time. Two

hundred more pistols have been inspected and sent off from the

factory of R. Johnson to the New York Depot. Inspections of pis-

tols are now in progress at the factories of both R. Johnson and

A. Waters; the latter expects to be able to turn out 300 per week.

I think that number high but that he may deliver 150–200.

Bomford penned a reply directly on Craig’s letter and

sent it immediately forward to the Honorable Secretary of

War supporting Craig’s request for assistance.35

The unusual shipments of small batches of pistols

around the October inspection make it even more likely to

be the source of the JH single cartouche. In fact it was one

of these pistols that prompted Mr. Leveque’s question in the

first place. Oddly, some of the surveying pistols of this group

are often found in very good condition. Supporting evidence

for the October inspection may also be found on the barrel

proof inspection. Some of the barrels on the single car-

touche pistols bear the proof firing mark of Thomas Warner.

The “Warner barrels”were likely left over from his last proof-

ing inspection in August. Joseph Hannis made the next pistol

inspection at Johnson’s factory in December, but things had

improved in the Ordnance Department by then.

In the late fall of 1837 Craig received some relief. Lt.

John Fitzgerald Lee was appointed to command the New

York Depot and assigned accoutrement inspection duties.

William Smith from the Springfield Armory began inspecting

at the Ames factory. Mr. John A. Webber, a former officer and

West Point graduate was appointed Military Storekeeper at

Watertown. In addition, Nahum Patch, Craig’s most compe-

tent inspector was assigned to inspecting carbines at

North’s. Joseph Hannis, also a competent inspector, was

assigned to pistols. In addition Bomford arranged for John

Avis of Harpers Ferry Armory to assist with pistol inspec-

tions beginning in early 1838 (Figure 11).36

VIRGINIA AND NEW JERSEY PISTOLS

The next inspection of 1000 pistols at Robert Johnson’s

was made on December 6, 1837 by Joseph Hannis (as

Principle Inspector) and Craig. In a letter to Bomford the

next day, Craig provides a clue to the disposition of this

group of pistols:

Your letter of the 29th ulto. has been received. On the

2nd last I reported that in a few days 800 pistols and 300 car-

bines would be forwarded from the Middletown factories to

the N. York depot and that about 500 pistols would be

received at this post from Millbury: if these arms are permit-

ted to be issued to the state of Virginia and the complement

to be made up from the next parcel manufactured the issue to

that state under order 187 of 1835 can be completed in pis-

tols before the 15th of January and I think in carbines about

the 15th of May.37
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In late November, Bernard Peyton, Adjutant General

for Virginia, began pushing anew for the promised quota of

1507 pistols due to the State. He had been requesting pistols

since 1832. Bomford promised Peyton that he would ship

the pistols about the first of April 1838. Meantime the order

for the State of New Jersey was also seriously in arrears.

Bomford made the decision to fill the Virginia order first fol-

lowed by the New Jersey order.38

Although Virginia did not mark the Model 1836 pistols it

received with state identification, New Jersey did. Both states

altered the Model 1836 pistols to percussion at the beginning

of the Civil War. Some of the Virginia pistols were altered by

Thomas Adams of Richmond. The Adams bolster alteration is

distinctive. New Jersey alterations are also distinctive and

marked with an ‘NJ’ on the barrel flat and with an additional

‘NJ’ script cartouche. Oddly these are the only pistols with

three cartouches. Numerous examples of both these state alter-

ations effected on Johnson pistols dated 1837 exhibit the JH

and HKC script cartouches. It appears that some of the

December 6, 1837 inspection of 1000 pistols, which found

their way to New Jersey and Virginia, were inspected accord-

ing to the rules. The question may be raised, could the 1837

dated locks have continued into1838? The answer is certainly,

but the first inspection in 1838 was completed by Principle

Inspector Joseph Weatherhead, which was his only inspection

on this model pistol and his last. Perhaps the “machinations of

his old nemesis” caught up with him? The physical evidence,

inspection records and the specific state issues allow the dis-

counting of this December inspection of pistols as the source

of single cartouche leaving only the October 5, 1837 inspec-

tion as the likely group of pistols with the single JH cartouche

(Figure 12).

The presence of Craig’s HKC cartouche is consistent

until the fall of the year 1838 when he was assigned com-

mand of Alleghany Arsenal. It is the last two inspections of

1838 that are the most interesting, relating as they do to the

Georgia effort to obtain pistols directly from Robert Johnson.

It is at this point in history that the Georgia Contract, the sin-

gle cartouche pistols, the inspection process and the Second

Seminole War all interweave.

THE GEORGIA CONTRACT (ANOMALY 3 & 4)

On January 22, 1838 Governor George Rockingham

Gilmer, who had replaced William Schley as Governor of

Georgia, wrote Secretary of War Joel Poinsett requesting the

status of 742 rifles and accouterments assigned to the State of

Georgia as its quota of public arms through the Militia Act of

1808. Gilmer writes, “. . . Most of the public arms of this

State have been either lost or rendered unfit for use in the

Creek and Seminole Campaigns so that they are wanted for

the troops that may be ordered into the Cherokee Country.39

On February 20 he requested two brass six pound cannon for

City of Augusta and the remaining appor-

tionment in muskets and accoutrements.

The Governor further requests that they

may be sent as soon as possible “They are

wanted for the troops which are about to

be called into service for the U. States for

the defense of the Cherokee Country”40

(Figure 13).

George R. Gilmer

was first elected

Governor of Georgia in

1829–1831 and re-elected

1837–1839. Gilmer is

most noted for ordering

the State Militia to sub-

due the Cherokees. He

served as first lieu-

tenant in the Forty-third

Regiment, United States

Infantry, from 1813 to
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1815 in the campaign against the Creek Indians and built a

fort on the Chattahoochee River near the present city of

Atlanta. Gilmer had been a member of Congress and once

chaired the Committee on Indian Affairs. It was during his

administration as Governor that the tragic “Trail of Tears”

took place.41

By early spring of 1838 Major Craig thought there were

sufficient pistols in the process of completion and inspec-

tion to consider beginning to supply the states under the

obligations of the Militia Act of 1808. In a letter to Bomford

on March 7, 1838 he states that “500 pistols are in store at

Watertown and expects to receive 500 more from Asa

Waters on the 10th of March.” Craig points out that, “two

inspectors are busy at Johnson’s in Middletown and he

expects to receive an additional 1000 pistols.” Craig pro-

posed furnishing the pistols due the State of Virginia from

these upcoming deliveries.42

Exhibiting the same optimism Craig wrote to Governor

George Gilmer at Milledgeville Georgia on March 3, 1838:

In the month of March 1836 I was instructed by the

Colonel of Ordnance (Bomford) to procure for the State of

Georgia certain cavalry equipment’s, a portion of which has

been delivered, but circumstances have delayed the fabrica-

tion of the pistols. They can now be furnished at a very short

notice and if it is your Excellency’s desire, I will order them to

be manufactured and have them forwarded.43

Governor Gilmer answered Craig on March 16, 1838:

Your communication of the 3rd inst. upon the subject

of the purchase of certain cavalry equipment for the State of

Georgia has just been received. You are requested to have

completed the arrangement entered into between Governor

Schley and the Ordnance Department for the purchase of cav-

alry arms for the State and have them forwarded to the care of

Egbert B. Beall, Augusta, Georgia.

In a letter to Bomford on June 14, 1838 Robert Johnson

states that he prefers to complete most of his assignment of

pistols for the year 1838 in the first half of the year. He says

in all probability he will have 1000 pistols ready in July. He

proposes to then finish the rest of the pistols he should have

delivered in 1837 and “likewise the 680 for the State of

Georgia” by the end of 1838. The letter confirms that the

Georgia contract pistols had not yet been completed when

1000 pistols were delivered by Johnson on July 6, 1838.44

Johnson, however, apparently allocated the next group of

pistols to be fabricated for the Georgia contract. The agree-

ment with Georgia required them to be inspected the same

as those for the United States. The next inspection took

place on August 18, 1838 when Lewis Foster inspected 600

pistols and applied his LF cartouche (Figure 14).

The assistance provided by the Ordnance Department in

acting as agent for a state may seem strange with today’s pro-

curement rules but it was not uncommon in this era. The

agreement described previously with Virginia may have set the

precedent. During this same era a number of Model 1833

sabers were purchased by the states. Some of the five states

purchasing sabers required them to be inspected to the U.S.

standard. The states requiring inspection may have been aware

of the practice of passing along rejected U.S. contract goods to

the states. Examples of these sabers have only the mark of the

sub-inspector. Similar inspections were also made for sabers

made for the Republic of Texas.45 It is likely a similar process

was envisioned for the Georgia contract pistols. Therefore sim-

ilar to the sabers, the pistols for the Georgia contract would

bare only the certification and mark of the sub-inspector Lewis

Foster. In this case the missing cartouche mark of the

Superintendent of Inspection was not due to his absence, but

rather that the pistols were not slated for acceptance of pay-

ment by the United States and therefore the requirement for an

ordnance officer inspection was unnecessary.

With the pistols ready to be shipped to Georgia in

August a problem developed concerning who was to pay for

the shipping charges. Apparently the instruction from

Bomford’s letter to Craig in 1836, which reserved funds for

packing and transportation, was forgotten! On September 4,

1838 Craig writes to Governor Gilmer:

I enclose herewith a contract enacted in behalf of the

State of Georgia for 680 pistols. These arms are hereby ready

for delivery but the manufacturer Mr. R Johnson of

Middletown has expressed an unwillingness to undertake the

transport and deliver them in Georgia. He says it was his

expectation that they would be received and paid for in New

York or some other shipping place. The pistols manufactured

for the United States are delivered by him in the city of

Middletown hence his expectation that he would not be

called on to send those made for the State of Georgia to a
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distance. If an arrangement can be made for the reception in

the city of New York it will relieve Mr. Johnson from much

embarrassment.

Please address Major M.P. Lomax who is my successor

as Superintendent of Inspection. He will be stationed at this

post.46

It is clear form these letters that the pistols intended to

fulfill the Georgia Contract were the 600 inspected by Lewis

Foster on August 18, 1838. The inspection, however, was 80

pistols short of the total needed.

MANN PAGE LOMAX, SUPERINTENDENT OF INSPECTION

In late September 1838 Major Mann Page Lomax took

over command of the Watertown Arsenal replacing Craig as

Superintendent of Inspection. Craig had been assigned com-

mand of Alleghany Arsenal. In a letter to Bomford on

September 21, 1838, Lomax states he is at Watertown and

has taken over from Craig.47 The Georgia pistol contract

problems were passed to Lomax by Craig but apparently he

forgot to tell him!

On September 8, 1838 Governor Gilmer wrote to Joel

Poinsett, Secretary of War:

“. . . Enclosed is a copy of an agreement made by

Major Craig on behalf of the State of Georgia and Robert

Johnson of Middletown for the manufacture of 680 pistols for

the state.”My object is to procure the delivery of the pistols in

this state in time to be used by the companies who may be

disposed to volunteer in the service against the Seminole

Indians. The state having at present no pistols for its cavalry.

I did not know the terms of Major Craig’s contract until the

receipt of his letter. I would like to require sometime to agree

upon the manner of payment and delivery with Mr. Johnson.

I would therefore request that the Secretary of War will

through the offices of his department pay Mr. Johnson out of

the money which will be due the state for advances made for

the United States in the Campaigns of 1836 against the

Seminole and Creek Indians and charge the same to the state

of Georgia and that he will cause them toe be shipped to the

care of Francis M. Stone, keeper of the arsenal at Savannah

and that the transpiration be aid for and charged to the state

in the same manner.48

This suggested payment scenario put things on hold.

Meanwhile Robert Johnson was preparing another group of

pistols for inspection. There were only 600 pistols in the

Lewis Foster inspection of August 18, 1838. The next group

of 650 pistols was inspected by John. C. Stebbins on October

2, 1838. These pistols also bear only the single cartouche JCS.

The Georgia Pistol delivery was interrupted by yet

another problem, besides who was going to pay for the

shipment. Between the August and October Johnson inspec-

tions William Maynadier, Captain of Ordnance wrote to

Lomax at Watertown Arsenal on September 26, 1838. As the

letter will show, while the Governor of Georgia is trying to

buy arms for the militia, the Ordnance Department is trying

to ship pistols to the State of Georgia for their militia:

Urgent necessity existing for the immediate issue of

1000 pistols to Charleston for the use of the militia force to be

called into service in the State of Georgia you will immedi-

ately cause to be forwarded to the N.Y. Depot any pistols

which may be on hand at your post or which may have been

inspected and received for the service of the U. States at the

armories of messers Waters and Johnson. Should there be

none on hand you will to the greatest possible dispatch

inspect from 600 to 800 and forward them to the New York

Depot, they being requested at Charleston.

The pistols herein referred to and required at the New

York Depot to fill orders already issued and are such as are to be

delivered under existing contracts and agreements between the

private armories and the U. States and for no other account.

You will by return mail report to this office on the subject stat-

ing the number sent and the date of their transmission.49

The problem with the “urgent necessity” letter is that

Major Lomax was not at Watertown! The same day that John

C. Stebbins inspected the Johnson pistols, some perhaps slated

to fill the remaining Georgia order, Military Storekeeper John

A. Webber on reading the letter intended for Lomax seized

on behalf of the United States all the pistols in stores. He

immediately wrote directly to Bomford on October 2, 1838

explaining what he had done:

Major Lomax being absent from this post. I have the

honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 26th

ulto., and to state to you for your information that on the 26

ulto. [September 26,1838] I forwarded 600 pistols of Waters

Manufacture to the New York Depot and that 700 pistols of

Johnson’s manufacture reported inspected by Mr. Stebbins a

few days since are now in store at Middletown awaiting the

inspection of Maj. Lomax.

AAss  tthhee  cceerreemmoonnyy  ooff  aann  iinnssppeeccttiioonn  bbyy  tthhee

SSuuppeerriinntteennddeenntt  ooff  IInnssppeeccttiioonn  ooff  ccoonnttrraacctt  aarrmmss  aappppeeaarrss  ttoo  hhaavvee

bbeeeenn  ddiissppeennsseedd  wwiitthh  iinn  sseevveerraall  ccaasseess  wwhheerree  tthhee  eexxiiggeenncciieess  ooff

sseerrvviiccee  hhaavvee  ccaalllleedd  ffoorr  tthhee  iimmmmeeddiiaattee  iissssuuee  ooff  aarrmmss  aanndd  aass  yyoouurr

lleetttteerr  iimmpprreesssseedd  mmee  wwiitthh  aa  bbeelliieeff  tthhaatt  ssuucchh  aann  eemmeerrggeennccyy  nnooww

eexxiissttss..  I shall take the responsibility of using the name of Major

Lomax to direct Mr. Phelps my storekeeper at Middletown to

forward the 700 pistols to the New York depot without delay.

If necessary Major Lomax can inspect them at the latter place

more speedily and conveniently than at the former.

If in this doing I transcend the authority confided in

me by Maj. Lomax during this temporary absence I trust you
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will place the action to its true account, Viz. an earnest desire

that the Department may be distinguished for its promptness

and efficiency.

Mr. Waters will probably have 600 more pistols ready

for inspection by the time Major Lomax can visit his armory. 50

Military Storekeeper John Alexander Webber was a

West Point graduate, class of 1815. Following graduation he

was appointed a Lieutenant of Artillery. He resigned in 1825.

He was appointed Military Storekeeper of Ordnance at

Watertown Arsenal and reported for duty in late December

1837. He died at Watertown May 6, 1855 at age 56.51 It is not

clear if Webber knew that the 600 Lewis Foster inspected

pistols placed in stores on August 23, were slated to go to

Georgia, but probably not. Those pistols likely remained in

stores until swept up with the remaining available stock.

Webber’s actions would brew up a storm from the Governor

of Georgia (Figure 15).

Further there are hints in the official correspondence

that indicate there may have been some friction between

Webber and Lomax. In a long letter to Lt. Colonel George

Talcott, Ordnance Department on June 4, 1839 Webber states

that “Major Lomax four weeks prior verbally ordered him not

to exercise any authority at the post during his absence.”

Webber stated that he had “performed the duty of a subaltern

at the post during the frequent absences of Major Lomax.”52

Perhaps the friction related to fact that Webber was a West

Point graduate and Lomax graduated from William and Mary in

Virginia. However, Lomax was a battle tested veteran having

served in Florida from 1835–1838. Lomax, at his request, met

with Talcott in late May to discuss his duties. In June the

accouterment inspection was assigned to Mr. Hugh Alexander

the master accoutrement maker at Alleghany Arsenal, thus

removing this continuing problem from Lomax while handing

it back to Craig’s staff. On July 16, 1839 in a rather cryptic

letter to Lomax from Talcott concerning Webber states, “as

regard to instructions nothing definite can be stated further

than your wishes shall be consulted as far as practical.”Webber

was subsequently appointed the Disbursement Officer on

August 3. 1839 and continued under Lomax’s command until

Lomax’s death March 31, 1842.53

Regardless of the propriety of Webber’s actions, his letter

is the key to the identity of the pistols selected to go to Georgia

for the Seminole War, which are in fact the very same pistols

slated to go to the Governor in the first place. While it is not

clear what combination of pistols were eventually sent from

the New York Depot those likely immediately available were

the 600 pistols inspected by Lewis Foster, which were held for

the Georgia contract, the 650 pistols inspected by John C.

Stebbins and seized by Webber and the last inspection group of

Asa Waters manufacture, which was 600 pistols inspected by

Joseph Hannis and Major Lomax on September 10.

Webber’s letter also alludes to the “ceremony of an

inspection” having been “dispensed with in several cases”

which supports the existence of the other groups of single

cartouche pistols in 1837. Webber’s letter is the key that ties

both groups of the single cartouche pistols together and

identifies the pistols actually sent to Georgia (Figure 16).

ONE ANGRY GOVERNOR

Meanwhile on October 21, 1838 Samuel Cooper,

Acting Secretary of War finally responded to the September

8, 1838 letter from the Governor of Georgia:

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your

letter of the 8th ultimo (September 8,1838) and its enclosure.

In this communication you asked the Department to

pay (out of the sum the which may be due on the account of

the State of Georgia transmitted sometime since for advances

during the Creek and Seminole Wars in 1836 and 7) to R.

Johnson of Middletown Conn. the amount due him under con-

tract with the State of Georgia for furnishing the state with six

hundred and eighty (680) pistols. The principle reason for this

application seems to be that the pistols are wanted for the

troops to be employed against the Indians in the Okefenokee

Swamp and that as it would take the State sometime to arrange

with Mr. Johnson the manner of payment and delivery, they

could not be had in season for that object unless the

Department would take the course which you request.

The Department has every disposition to comply with

the wishes of the Executive of Georgia on all occasions within

its legitimate functions and even further than this when

absolute necessity would seem to demand it. But it does not

consider that a compliance with your request now alluded to

would form a part of its proper duties nor that it is demanded

by necessity. It would not be consistent with any law, regula-

tion or usage governing the Department and the only consid-

eration of necessity mentioned by your Excellency has already
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been met by sending to Charleston 1000 pistols out of which

the number required for the troops embodied to operate

against the Indians can be furnished at an earlier period than

that when those to be supplied to the state by Mr., Johnson

could be sent to a proper point for that purpose.

The accounts of the State against the U. States already

mentioned and in course of settlement but which in conse-

quence of the press of business in the accounting office is not

yet sufficiently advanced to show what would be the result.54

It looks like the Governor is going to receive his pistols

courtesy of the Ordnance Department. And some of the very

pistols scheduled to be sent to him under his contract! The

letter also questions the practice of the Ordnance

Department procuring contracts from private armories for

the States by stating “compliance with your request now

alluded too would not form a part of its proper duties nor

that it is demanded by necessity.” The letter also firmly places

these pistols in the specific action planned against the

Seminoles in the Okefenokee Swamp (Figure 17).

Likely before Acting Secretary Cooper’s letter arrived

Governor Gilmer wrote to Major Lomax on October 26,

1838 responding to Craig’s letter of September 4, 1838

which enclosed the contract with Robert Johnson. As letters

and pistols passed in shipment, the governor pressed his

case directly with Major Lomax who was now the

Superintendent of Inspection. According to the following

letter the Governor had completed the necessary arrange-

ments to pay Robert Johnson for the pistols:

I received from Major Craig sometime ago [September

4,1838] a letter upon the subject of a contract which he had

made in behalf of this State and Mr. Robert Johnson of

Middletown for the manufacture of 680 pistols. I send you a

copy of this letter and the contract that you may be in posi-

tion of the facts. You are requested to have the pistols proven

and inspected. Arrangements have been made with the mer-

cantile house of L.M. Wiley & Co. New York to receive, pay

for and forward the pistols to this state. Will you inform

Mr. Johnson of these arrangements and request him to
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forward the pistols to New York accordingly with your certifi-

cate that the arms have been proven and inspected.55

On receipt of the governor’s letter Lomax writes to

Bomford. The content of Lomax’s letter shows he has no

knowledge of the arrangement that Craig made with the

State of Georgia and Robert Johnson. Lomax had not been

present when Webber, acting in his absence, sized the pis-

tols and sent them to New York for shipment to Charleston.

Lomax in a quandary writes to Bomford on November 7,

1838 for direction:

I have received a communication from his Excellency

the Governor of Georgia accompanied by a copy of a contract

made by Major Craig on the part of the that State with

Mr. Johnson for the manufacturing and delivery for the serv-

ice of the State of Georgia six hundred and eighty [680] pis-

tols. His Excellency had requested that the pistols may be

sent to the mercantile house of L.M. Wiley and Co. New York

with whom arrangements have been made to receive, pay and

forward them to the State of Georgia.

I am of the opinion that Mr. Johnson has manufactured

no other pistols but those required by the assignment made to

him by this Department to complete, which one thousand

and fifty remain to be manufactured and are now undergoing

inspection. [December 6, 1838 delivery 500 pistols the “final”

1050 not delivered until March 21 1839] In the event of Mr.

Johnson not having any other pistols is it your intention Sir,

that the State of Georgia should be supplied from these man-

ufactured under the assignment made on account of the

United States?56

On November 12, 1838 Captain Alfred Mordecai

Ordnance Department answered Lomax’s inquiry:

Your letter of the 7th inst. has been received. The

demand for pistols has been very urgent. It is important that

those now due by Mr. Johnson under his agreement with the

U. States be delivered as soon as possible, but for this the

delivery of the pistols to the State of Georgia should have

taken precedence.57

Lomax sent a letter to Robert Johnson on November

13, 1838 inquiring about the Georgia contract. Johnson

responded on November 20, 1838 and his letter clearly

shows that it was the Lewis Foster inspection of pistols on

August 18, 1838 that were slated for Georgia. These pistols

are marked with only the LF Single Cartouche. Lomax

responds to Governor Gilmer on November 27, 1838 and

enclosed a copy of Johnson’s letter:

Your letter of the 26 of October was not received until

the 7 of November. I wrote immediately to Mr. Johnson to

know if the 680 pistols which he had contracted to make for

the State of Georgia were ready for inspection and if not at

what time they would be ready. I did not receive an answer, a

copy of which I have enclosed *, until today which will explain

why I have so long delayed to reply to your Excellencies letter.

Previously to hearing from Mr. Johnson being apprehen-

sive that he had not fulfilled his contract made with Major Craig

on the part of the State of Georgia I wrote to the Chief of

Ordnance Department proposing to substitute a portion of the

pistols manufactured for the U. States in lieu of those which Mr.

Johnson ought to have fabricated for State of Georgia and was

informed that so urgent was the demand for pistols for the serv-

ice of the U. States, that no part of Johnson’s assignment could

be applied to any other purpose and but for this that the State of

Georgia should have precedence. I will thank your Excellency

to inform me whether you will receive the pistols which Mr.

Johnson proposes to have ready for inspection by the last of

next month or will authorize me to make a contract with an-

other armorer whose work will be at least as good at that done by

Mr. Johnson and from whom more punctually may be expected.

Any comments with which your Excellency may be pleased to

honor me will receive the most prompt and particular attention.

*November 20, 1838 Robert Johnson to Major M.P.

Lomax , Johnson’s letter copy enclosed: I received your letter

of the 13th Instant saying you had received a communication

with a contract made between myself and Major Craig on the

part of the State of Georgia from his Excellency the Governor

of Georgia for 680 pistols to be delivered on or before the 15th

of September 1838. Sir, I beg leave to state the pistols were all

ready for inspection on the 25th day of August on which day I

wrote to Major Craig. As there were no satisfactory arrange-

ments made for the payment and delivery, the pistols were

turned over to the United States. All the pistols I have to make

for this years assignment from the Ordnance Department will

be ready for inspection next week [inspection by Joseph

Hannis December 6, 1838 500 pistols] and the 680 will be

ready for inspection the last of the month so that the whole if

they can be inspected be completed by about the first of

January 1839. I should rather have the 1500, which is the num-

ber I have to deliver on this years assignment, completed by

inspection before those for the State of Georgia; but if it should

be preferred to have the pistols for Georgia inspected before

the above number is completed for the U. States I will leave for

the Ordnance Department to decide.58

The Governor of Georgia was not pleased with the

most recent letters. He wrote directly to the Secretary of War

Joel Poinsett on December 13, 1838:

I send you a copy of a letter just received form Major

Lomax of the Ordnance Department upon the subject of the

failure of Robert Johnson of Middletown Connecticut to per-

form on a contract made with him by Major Craig in behalf of

the State of Georgia for the fabrication of Six hundred and
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eighty [680] pistols together with a copy of the correspon-

dence of this department with Major Craig and Major Lomax

in relation to that contact. You will find that Mr. Johnson has

turned over to the U. States the pistols made for the State and

that the U. States has accepted them (Figure 18).

I cannot perceive anything in the course perused by

the authorities of this State to justify this proceeding on the

part of the agents of the U. States and Mr., Johnson. Your

attention is asked to the for the purpose of requesting that

you will use your authority to have the contract made

between Major Craig and Mr. Johnson complied with.

Funds have been placed in the hands of the agents of

the State some time ago and at an expense to the State of two

percent upon the money advanced with authority to receive

and pay for the pistols.

OONNEE  RREEDD  RRIIBBBBOONN

The source of these letters found in the National Archives

is interesting. The letters pertaining to the correspondence

with the Governor of Georgia were all found bundled in one

box bound with usual faded red ribbon (supposedly the origin

of the term “government red tape”). The bun-

dle was filed under W for War Department for

the year 1838. A note on the outside of the

cover indicates that the Georgia letters were

sent the Ordnance Department from the Secretary of War’s

office on December 20, 1838 for response. Because of this

unusual action all the letters from Craig, Lomax, Johnson and

Gilmer were discovered in a single bundle.

Most of the story of the Georgia Contract tum-

bles out with the pull of a single red ribbon.

However, it took years to track down the pis-

tols and the supporting correspondence. The letter from

storekeeper Webber anchored the story in history. The fol-

lowing letters are the drafts contained in the bundle written

by Alfred Mordecai Captain of Ordnance for response by the

Secretary of War to explain the actions of the Ordnance

Department (Figure 19).

Mordecai penned his first draft on the file cover on

December 21, 1838:

On the 12th Ultimo Major Lomax was informed that the

demand for pistols for the U.S. being urgent those due by Mr.

Johnson must be delivered as soon as possible. But for this deliv-

ery the State of Georgia should have taken precedence. It is pre-

sumed that the pistols for Georgia are by this time in the course

of inspection & may be delivered by the 1st of January as stated

by Mr. Johnson. By Order A. Mordecai Capt. Ordnance.

Dated December 24, 1838 his draft letter complete

with strike outs prepared for the War Department to be sent
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to Governor Gilmer is also located in the file. The letter is

similar in content to Mordecai’s notes on the file cover. The

letter with corrections made was sent to Governor Gilmer by

Secretary of War Poinsett on December 24, 1838. For interest

the draft letter with the strike outs underlined follows:

I have the honor to receive your Excellency’s letter of

the 13 inst. In relation to the contract failure of Robert

Johnson to perform a contract made with him by Major Craig

in behalf of the State of Georgia for 680 pistols and their hav-

ing been turned over to the United States. In reply I beg leave

to state that the urgent wants of the United States government

rendered it necessary that the pistols due by Mr. Johnson to it

should be delivered as soon as possible and consequently

orders were given to that effect, but for this the delivery to the

State of Georgia should have taken precedence.

It is presumed that the pistols for Georgia are by this

time in the course of inspection and may be delivered by the

1st of January orders having been given to expedite their

delivery as much as possible.59 The same letter with the cor-

rections made was sent to Governor Gilmer by the Secretary

of War on December 24, 1839.60

Despite the encouraging wording in the War

Department letter it does not appear that Johnson ever made

the additional pistols for Georgia. His inspection records indi-

cate that he did not make any deliveries in January. Johnson’s

next delivery of 1050 pistols was on March 21, 1839. The pis-

tols were inspected by Elizur Bates and Major Lomax. No

more single cartouche pistols are known, implying an addi-

tional Georgia Contract delivery. Following the inspections

of Joseph C. Stebbins and Lewis Foster at Robert Johnson’s

factory they were assigned inspection duty at the Asa Waters

Armory in Millbury in an effort to comply with the Ordnance

Regulations of 1834, which required inspectors not to work

consecutively at the same private armory.

The confusion expressed by the authors of these let-

ters was because Georgia's effort to obtain arms began in

March 1836 under the former administration of Governor

William Schley. By the time the pistols were finally issued to

the State of Georgia for use in the swamps, none of the orig-

inal players that started this project, except Robert Johnson,

remained in place.

PISTOLS IN THE SWAMPS

The reason for the additional push for pistols is that

in October 1838 the Governor of Georgia had ordered

General Charles R. Floyd into the Okefenokee Swamp to

chase the Seminole’s out of that stronghold. Floyd led

the first foray of about 300 soldiers into the swamps in

early November. During the next three months he traversed

the 700 square mile area several times. By February he

declared the swamp had been cleared. Floyd, who had led

a colorful life, became a local hero. He returned to his

home in March 1839.61 The original Georgia contract pistols

with the single cartouche by Lewis Foster and those

inspected by Stebbins both with single cartouches likely

were slated for this conflict in the Okefenokee. As the

letters were passing in the mail it is likely the 1000 pistol

finally arrived (Figure 20).

Following Poinsett’s Christmas Eve letter to Gilmer no

further letters on the Georgia pistols have been located.

Gilmer’s letters in the year 1839 to the Secretary of War cen-

ter on reimbursement for the Georgia Militia supplied to the

United States for the Seminole, Cherokee and Creek campaigns

of 1835–36. Due to the complicated issues in federalizing the

militia the matter had to be resolved in Congress. This busi-

ness was not concluded until the spring of 1840.62 A letter

from Gilmer to Bomford on November 8, 1839 requested

only muskets for the states apportionment under the Militia
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Act of 1808. 63

On November

6, 1839 Gilmer

was replaced

by Governor

Charles James

McDonald. No

additional cor-

respondence on the subject of pistols for the State of Georgia

was discovered during McDonald’s administration (Figure 21).

The issue was likely dropped because the raid by

General Floyd through the Okefenokee Swamp ended in

February of 1839. Presumably the 1000 pistols arrived in

time. Despite the Christmas Eve assurances of the Secretary

of War, Robert Johnson did not deliver any pistols to Georgia

in January of 1839. The line in the Secretary of Wars letter,

which states “But it does not consider that a compliance with

your request now alluded to would form a part of its proper

duties nor that it is demanded by necessity” makes it clear

that contracting on behalf of the state is not the business of

the Ordnance Department. The 600 pistols intended for

Georgia inspected by Lewis Foster delivered in August and

the 650 pistols inspected by John C. Stebbins in October,

which were sized by Webber are most likely those pistols that

made up some of the 1000 pistols shipped to Charleston for

the Georgia campaign. Both of these groups of pistols have

only the single cartouches and can be directly associated with

the Second Seminole War, the Georgia Militia and Floyd’s

famous raid through the swamp.

GEORGIA ALTERATIONS

The final raid through the swamp could have been the

end of the story except for the discovery of two examples of

altered Johnson’s pistols dated 1838 with the single car-

touche inspection of Lewis Foster. Both of these pistols

exhibit a style of alteration associated with the

south. Visually comparing the two pistols would ini-

tially seem to suggest they are quite different in the

execution of the alteration from flint to percussion

(Figure 23). However, examining the pistols in detail reveals

that despite the differences, the alteration reassembly codes

are very similar. Groups of pistols altered in

shops for the Confederate States at the outbreak

of the Civil War often exhibit a series of applied

marks that allow for the correct reassembly of

the pistols. Individual parts on the Model 1836 pistols do not

readily exchange. The presence of similar systems of these

“reassembly codes” on pistols usually indicates a num-

ber of pistols altered to percussion in the same area

or shop. Both of these pistols have a unique

Roman numeral mark on the underside of the

remnant of the pan in a location that is unus-

ual because it is hard to reach. The same

Roman numeral mark is found on the barrel,

stock and hammer. Both hammers are crudely

forged and both pistols have experienced

rough service (Figures 22 and 23).

It is quite likely that these are examples

of pistols still in Georgia arsenals at the outbreak of the Civil

War or examples of pistols that were retained in the hands of

local militia following the Seminole War. These southern

style alterations may provide further evidence that the Lewis

Foster single cartouche inspected pistols actually ended up

in Georgia. The similar assembly marking and the difference

is styles at first seem to be puzzling. It may be likely that the

first example was completed in a shop for militia before the

war, perhaps in the 1850s, and the second with the same

reassembly code completed by the same gunsmith but more

crudely fabricated at the beginning of the Civil War. It too

may have looked like the other sample but for the “exigen-

cies of the service.” In contrast several examples of Johnson

pistols bearing only the single JCS cartouche are noted in

original flintlock and in remarkably good condition. No sin-

gle JCS cartouche pistol alterations have been located to

date.

CONCLUSIONS

In final answer to Phil Leveque’s question as to why

some model 1836 pistols have only a single cartouche when

there should be two could be summed up in three words,

“exigencies of service.” Storekeeper Webber’s comment “As

the ceremony of an inspection by the Superintendent of

Inspection of contract arms appears to have been dispensed
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Figure 23. Details of drum alteration. Details of bolster alteration marks.

Note: there are no alteration marks
on the pan of this unaltered flintlock.



with in several cases where the exigencies of service. . . .”sug-

gested further inquiry into the meaning of his comment

beyond the immediate pistols at hand. These single cartouche

pistols begin to show up in 1837, perhaps at the pressure

points of ordnance supply problems when Craig or Lomax

could not physically attend to the numerous inspection duties

scattered across several states. There are at least four cases of

inspection where only the single cartouche of the sub-inspec-

tor is present on Model 1836 pistols made by Robert Johnson.

Each of these cases is related to the Seminole War and two of

these cases can be directly attributed to events in Georgia.

Due to the unusual bundling of the letters the Georgia

Contract story is much more complete than could have been

expected. The letters from Robert Johnson are specific

about which pistols were intended for Georgia. The letters

from the Secretary of War are specific to the purpose of the

pistols to be used in Georgia.

The existence of all these single cartouche pistols was

because of the extraordinary pressure on the Ordnance

Department to supply arms and equipment to the conflicts

in Florida and Georgia and supplying additional nervous

states under the Militia Act of 1808. Thousands of pistols

were supplied by Robert Johnson and Asa Waters during the

years of the Second Seminole War. But only anomalies of

inspection, which produced the single cartouche pistols,

can be assigned directly to a role in the conflict. This inquiry

highlights the value of understanding the inspection system,

the role of individual inspectors and applying that informa-

tion to historical events. These single cartouche pistols

would have looked like all the others produced . . . except

for the “exigencies of service.”
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